IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

MDB TRUCKING, LLC,

Appellant/Cross-Respondent,

VS.

VERSA PRODUCTS COMPANY, INC.,

Respondent/Cross-Appellant.

Supreme Court Case No. 75022

Electronically Filed Consolidated with Case 182019 08:38 a.m. 75321, 76395, 7639 (1924) 08:38 p.m. Clerk of Supreme Court

[District Court Case Nos.: CV15-02349, CV16-00976 and CV16-01914]

APPELLANT/CROSS-RESPONDENT MDB TRUCKING, LLC'S OPENING BRIEF

Consolidated Appeals from the Second Judicial District Court, Orders Granting Motion to Strike Cross-Claim and Orders Denying Attorneys' Fees and Granting Reduced Costs, The Honorable Judge Elliott A. Sattler, District Court Judge

Nevada Bar No. 6170

JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

The Second Judicial District Court in Case No. CV15-02349 imposed terminating sanctions on MDB Trucking, LLC (hereinafter "MDB") for spoliation of evidence pursuant to NRCP 37 and dismissed MDB's cross-claim for contribution against Versa Products Company, Inc. ("Versa"). At the time, MDB's cross-claim against Versa was the only matter remaining to be litigated in three related consolidated cases resulting from a 2014 multi-car traffic accident. The accident involved an MDB tractor/trailer combination with three trailers filled with gravel, the last of which dumped its load on the interstate following the uncommanded activation of the Versa valve that controlled the dumping mechanism.

Following the dismissal of MDB's cross-claim, Versa moved for an award of attorneys' fees and costs and MDB moved to retax and settle costs. The district court thereafter denied Versa's request for attorneys' fees and retaxed Versa's costs. MDB is appealing the terminating sanctions and award of costs. Versa is cross-appealing the denial of attorneys' fees and retaxing of costs. The district court orders constitute final orders in the district court cases and provide this Court with appellate jurisdiction pursuant to NRAP 3A(b)(1).

. . .

. . .

II.

ROUTING STATEMENT

This consolidated appeal is presumptively retained by the Supreme Court, pursuant to NRAP 17(a)(10) and (11), as it concerns a question of first impression and an issue upon which there is otherwise an inconsistency in the published decisions. Specifically, the Supreme Court has not addressed by way of published decision a district court's proper exercise of discretion when considering sanctions for spoliation of evidence pursuant to NRCP 37.

This Court previously clarified its spoliation jurisprudence in *Bass-Davis v. Davis*, 122 Nev. 442, 134 P.3d 103 (2006). This Court also previously established factors to consider in imposing sanctions, including terminating sanctions, pursuant to NRCP 37 in *Young v. Johnny Ribeiro Building Inc.*, *Bahena v. Goodyear Tire & Rubber Co.*, 106 Nev. 88, 787 P.2d 777 (1990). And, while this Court has previously found that NRCP 37 may be applied to discovery abuses, and that terminating sanctions are generally permitted under NRCP 37(b)(2), the Court has not yet articulated the requirement for considering spoliation of evidence jurisprudence when imposing such sanctions.

Underlying this matter specifically is the district court's determination that MDB spoliated certain components of the tractor and trailers involved in the subject accident giving rise to its cross-claim for contribution. And, although the district court found MDB did not intentionally dispose of the components in order

to harm Versa's defense and was at most "complicit of benign neglect and indifferent to the needs of Versa regarding discovery," it nevertheless imposed terminating sanctions pursuant to NRCP 37. Without published guidance on how to reconcile the Court's two lines of authority impacting its decision, the district court failed to recognize the limitations on the degree of sanctions to be imposed for negligent or willful spoliation of evidence under *Bass-Davis*, warranting this Court's retention and review, as well as ultimate reversal and remand.

III.

ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

This consolidated appeal presents the following issues for the Court's determination:

- 1) Whether the district court abused its discretion by imposing terminating sanctions for spoliation of evidence pursuant to NRCP 37, where the district court failed to consider the Supreme Court's long-standing spoliation of evidence case law, including limitations on the degree of sanctions to be imposed for negligent spoliation of evidence under *Bass-Davis v. Davis*, 122 Nev. 442, 134 P.3d 103 (2006) and subsequent cases. Resolution of this issue in favor of MDB will likely moot the remaining issues presented.
- 2) Whether the district court abused its discretion by awarding expert costs to Versa in excess of the \$1,500.00 statutory limit set forth in NRS 18.005(5), without consideration of the factors set forth in *Frazier v. Drake*, 131 Nev. Adv.

Op. 64, 357 P.3d 365, 377-378 (2015).

- 3) Whether the district court erred by awarding costs to Versa, which costs pertained exclusively to Versa's defense of the underlying plaintiffs' personal injury actions wherein Versa was not the prevailing party.
- 4) Whether the district court erred by awarding costs to Versa, which costs predate its offers of judgment, and Versa specifically moved only for costs incurred after service of its offers of judgment.
- 5) Whether the district court erred by awarding costs to Versa, which costs are not specifically taxable pursuant to NRS 18.005.

IV.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

All consolidated appeals at issue arise from the district court's determination to impose terminating sanctions against MDB, pursuant to NRCP 37, for the purported spoliation of evidence, specifically certain electrical components of MDB's tractor/trailer combination involved in the underlying accident, and to subsequently deny attorney's fees and award reduced costs to Versa. At the time the terminating sanctions were imposed, the only claim remaining to be litigated as a result of the 2014 multi-car traffic accident involving the MDB tractor/trailer combination, which released its load of gravel on Interstate 80 West of Reno, was MDB's cross-claim for contribution against Versa. Versa manufactured the solenoid valve that experienced an uncommanded activation and caused the gravel

load to release.

As the result of a mediation related to the underlying personal injury cases, which took place on May 5, 2017, MDB paid in excess of \$1.7 million to resolve all personal injury claims in the three underlying district court cases, and the plaintiffs assigned all claims against Versa to MDB as part of the settlement. Ten days later, on May 15, 2017, Versa filed its motion to strike MDB's cross-claim for contribution in the three remaining consolidated district court cases, wherein it sought sanctions for alleged spoliation of evidence pursuant to NRCP 37. Specifically, Versa sought to strike MDB's complaint or, in the alternative, to receive an adverse jury instruction for MDB's alleged replacement of and failure to preserve certain component parts of the wiring system of the subject tractor and trailers.

Following briefing and oral argument on August 29, 2017, the district court issued an interim order dated September 22, 2017 in which it found "there would be some sanctions levied on MDB for their discovery abuse: the actual sanction was not determined." The district court's interim order set the matter for evidentiary hearing on October 13, 2018, less than three weeks prior to the trial date and further stated "[e]ach party will be familiar with *Young*, *supra*, *Nevada Power*, *supra*, and their progeny and present witnesses in support of their respective positions." At the time the district court entered its September order, it

had taken nineteen (19) pre-trial motions under submission and trial was a month away.

The district court held the evidentiary hearing on October 13, 2017 and, at the conclusion of the hearing, informed the parties it would be granting Versa's motion to strike and entering terminating sanctions against MDB. The district court vacated the pending October 30, 2017 trial date in the lowest-numbered of the three remaining consolidated cases and advised the parties it would enter a written decision. The district court subsequently entered its written order on December 8, 2017. The district court stated therein that it "does not find MDB intentionally disposed of the components in order to harm Versa," but it "does find MDB is complicit of benign neglect and indifference to the needs of Versa regarding discovery," and entered the terminating sanction which is now the subject of this appeal.

The district court applied the same analysis and entered identical orders in the remaining two cases on January 22, 2018. Finally, the district court entered written orders regarding Versa's subsequent requests for attorney's fees and costs on June 7, 2018. MDB's and Versa's respective appeals and cross-appeals from these subsequent orders were later consolidated into each initial appeal, and all appeals were consolidated for all appellate purposes by order of the Court dated October 1, 2018.

STATEMENT OF RELEVANT FACTS

A. Pre-Accident Truck Modifications.

MDB is a commercial trucking company based in Sparks, Nevada. (AA Vol. 8 PG 1260). At all times relevant to the instant appeal, its drivers transported rock, gravel and other materials using 18 wheel tractors with three bottom dump trailers attached. (AA Vol. 11 PG 1703). The trailers, manufactured by Ranco, incorporated a valve that controlled the air pressure utilized to open and close the gates of the dumping system. (AA Vol. 8 PG 1198). The dumping gate valve on the Ranco trailers was manufactured by Versa, model number VGK-5423-20C-D012. (*Id.*).

Roughly one year before the subject accident, on July 25, 2013 and again on July 30, 2013, a tractor/trailer combination¹ owned by MDB and routinely driven by Daniel Koski ("Koski") experienced an uncommanded activation of the Versa valve which resulted in the dumping of the load contained in the third or last trailer. (AA Vol. 8 PG 1200). Following these uncommanded activations, which occurred in the same tractor/trailer combination, MDB took steps to prevent further uncommanded dumps. (AA Vol. 11 PGS 1849). Specifically, MDB mechanics: (1) replaced the existing Versa valve; (2) rewired the control circuit for the dump

The subject MDB tractor was identified by MDB with equipment number 5694 and the subject trailers were identified by equipment numbers 6773 for the first trailer, 6774 for the middle trailer, and 6775 for the third or dumping trailer. (AA Vol. 11 PGS 1703 - 1704).

gate system; and (3) added a master switch in the cab of the truck which isolated the entire circuit of the dump controls from any other electrical system on the truck. (AA Vol. 11 PGS 1849 – 1850). Unbeknownst to MDB at the time, beginning in 2002, Versa manufactured a safer, alternative valve design which included a manual locking system. (AA Vol. 8 PG 1238).

The modifications made by MDB in 2013 eliminated the possibility of a mechanical ground fault in the wiring system to the rear trailer. (AA Vol. 12 PG 1846). In short, the Versa valve received no electric current unless the driver of the truck affirmatively activated both the master switch and the individual trailer switch in the cab of the truck (both of which were shielded by plastic safety covers) and flipped both switches to the "on" position. (AA Vol. 11 PG 1810, AA Vol. 12 PG 1847). This isolated circuit prevented the Versa valve from being activated by any short circuit, exposed wire, or other electrical malfunction within the truck or trailers. (AA Vol. 12 PGS 1859 – 1862).

B. The Subject Accident.

On July 7, 2014, Koski, while driving the modified tractor/trailer combination, experienced an uncommanded activation of the Versa valve which resulted in the loss of the gravel load from the third trailer. (AA Vol. 11 PG 1705). The incident occurred on Interstate 80 near mile marker 39 outside of Reno, Nevada and Koski was initially unaware that the third trailer had released its load.

(AA Vol. 8 PG 1196). Further, Koski took no affirmative action to cause the trailer to open. (AA Vol. 11 PG 1737). Following the uncommanded release of gravel onto the Interstate, multiple vehicles collided and were damaged, and in some instances, their occupants sustained injuries. (AA Vol. 11 PG 1705).

Also on July 7, 2014, a different MDB-owned tractor/trailer combination driven by MDB employee Scott Palmer ("Palmer") experienced an uncommanded activation of its Versa valve on Interstate 80 near mile marker 42. (AA Vol. 11 PG 1741). As a result of the uncommanded activation, which occurred approximately ten minutes prior to that experienced by Koski, the third trailer released a load of sand on the Interstate. (AA Vol. 8 PG 1200). Like Koski, Palmer took no affirmative action to cause the trailer to open. (AA Vol. 11 PGS 1741 – 1742). There were no accidents associated with this spill. (*Id.*). Following the July 7, 2014 incidents, MDB removed all of its bottom dump trailers from the road and its maintenance team manufactured and installed a pin lock system to prevent uncommanded activation of the Versa valves before re-deploying the trailers. (AA Vol. 11 PG 1742).

Following the subject incident in 2014, MDB's mechanics also attempted, albeit unsuccessfully, to isolate the cause of the dumps. (AA Vol. 8 PG 1216). As a result, in November of 2014 MDB retained two forensic engineering experts, David Bosch, Ph.D. and Erik Anderson, P.E., C.F.E.I., to provide an independent

forensic engineering investigation of the accident at issue in the underlying litigation. (AA Vol. 8 PGS 1224 – 1286, 1195 – 1212). Among Dr. Bosch's conclusions: (1) there were no vehicle issues that could have caused the Versa valve to activate uncommanded and dump loads; (2) there was no evidence the drivers caused the unintended dumps; and (3) the only logical explanation for the numerous unintended dumps was that the Versa valve design is defective. (AA Vol. 8 PGS 1284 – 1286). Similarly, Mr. Anderson concluded: (1) the accident was not caused by any action or inaction of MDB or its employees; (2) the Versa valve was susceptible to uncommanded activation and external electromagnetic fields can cause uncommanded operation; and (3) the Versa valve is defective in its design because it was susceptible to uncommanded activation when exposed to external electromagnetic fields. (AA Vol. 8 PGS 1211 – 1212).

C. MDB's Resolution of the Underlying Personal Injury Cases.

The subject multi-vehicle accident on July 7, 2014 gave rise to multiple personal injury lawsuits against MDB and Versa, the first of which was filed more than one year after the accident on July 9, 2015.² The majority of the personal injury cases were later consolidated for discovery and trial purposes into *Fitzsimmons v. MDB Trucking, LLC, et al.*, District Court Case No. CV15-02349. (AA Vol. 10 PG 1562). *Bible v. MDB Trucking, LLC, et al.*, District Court Case

² See Olivia John, et al. v. MDB Trucking, LLC et al., Second Judicial District Court Case No. CV15-01337.

No. CV 16-01913 and *Remmerde v. MDB Trucking, LLC, et al.*, District Court Case No. CV16-00976 were consolidated for discovery purposes only. (*Id.*).

On May 5, 2017 the parties, including counsel for the 13 plaintiffs purportedly injured as a result of the subject accident, attended mediation. (AA Vol. 10 PG 1604). The mediation resulted in the resolution of all of the personal injury claims. (*Id.*). At the conclusion of the mediation, memoranda were drafted and circulated which memorialized the specific terms of the settlement agreements, including the payment amounts. (*Id.*). The plaintiffs assigned all claims they had as against Versa to MDB as part of the settlement consideration. (*Id.*).

Thereafter, MDB filed motions for good faith settlement to secure approval of the aforementioned agreements. (AA Vol. 10 PG 1605). Between June 30, 2017 and July 20, 2017, the district court granted the motions for good faith settlement resolving the personal injury claims of all underlying plaintiffs. (*Id.*). The underlying personal injury claims, inclusive of those against Versa, were subsequently dismissed by stipulation and order. (*Id.*). As of July 20, 2017, the only remaining matter to be decided in the district court was the cross-claim for contribution asserted by MDB against Versa, wherein MDB alleged that the unreasonably dangerous and defective design of the Versa valve caused the release of the gravel load, resulting in the subject accident. (AA Vol. 1 PGS 1 – 8).

.

D. Versa's Spoliation Motion.

On May 15, 2017, ten days after the mediation in which MDB agreed to settle all of the underlying personal injury cases, Versa brought a motion to strike MDB's cross-claim or, in the alternative, for an adverse jury instruction based on alleged spoliation of evidence. (AA Vol. 3 PGS 393 – 640). Versa argued MDB disposed of evidence critical to its defense to the cross-claim for contribution, specifically replacing certain component parts of the electrical system that controlled the Versa valve. (Id.). MDB argued in opposition that there was no relevant evidence negligently lost or destroyed that had any prejudicial effect on Versa's defenses to MDB's cross-claim. (AA Vol. 8 PGS 1122 – 1155, AA Vol. 10 PGS 1677 – 1685). Indeed, the components at issue did not effect the Versa valve because the modifications to the wiring system of the subject truck and trailers, made in 2013 prior to the subject accident in 2014, eliminated any chance the truck's electrical system could energize the Versa valve. (AA Vol. 8 PG 1165).

After full briefing, the district court heard oral argument on the motion to strike on August 29, 2017. (AA Vol. 9 PGS 1439 – 1557). At that time, the Court stated, "[t]here will be a sanction for the loss of the evidence." (AA Vol. 9 PGS 1535 – 1536). A written order entered September 22, 2017 set the matter for evidentiary hearing. (AA Vol. 10 PG 1665). Evidence presented during the evidentiary hearing specifically focused on the routine maintenance performed

during the more than two years from the date of the subject accident, July 7, 2014, to the date of the expert inspection, October 13, 2016, as follows:

DATE	EQUIPMENT	PART
August 5, 2014	Trailer - #6773 (not the subject trailer)	Replaced 4-way socket
December 18, 2014	Trailer – #6773 (not the subject trailer)	Replaced 4-way socket
December 18, 2014	Tractor – #5694	Tightened screws on 4-way plug
February 5, 2015	Tractor - #5694	Replaced damaged 4-way cord and 7-way cord
December 2, 2015	Tractor – #5694	Replaced 4-way plug

(AA Vol. 12 PGS 1947, 1950, 1953, 1956 and 1962). Notably, no routine maintenance was performed on the subject trailer, equipment #6775 after the subject incident. (AA Vol. 12 PGS 1947 – 1962). MDB further acknowledged that during the course of this routine maintenance, it failed to preserve the parts it replaced, which consisted of two sockets, two cords and one plug. (AA Vol. 11 PG 1721).

E. The District Court's Sanction Orders.

Immediately following the evidentiary hearing on October 13, 2017, the district court informed the parties it would be granting Versa's motion to strike and entering terminating sanctions against MDB. (AA Vol. 12 PGS 1927 – 1928). The district court issued its first written order thereafter on December 8, 2018. (AA Vol. 12 PGS 1970 – 1983). The order sets forth the district court's sole

consideration of the factors set forth in *Young v. Johnny Ribeiro Bldg., Inc.*, 106 Nev. 88, 93, 787 P.2d 777, 780 (1990), with only two passing references to, and no actual factual analysis under, *Bass-Davis v. Davis*, 122 Nev. 442, 134 P.3d 103 (2006). (*Id.*).

With regard to MDB's actions, the district court concluded that it "does not find MDB intentionally disposed of the components in order to harm Versa," but it "does find MDB is complicit of benign neglect and indifference to the needs of Versa regarding discovery." (AA Vol. 12 PG 1977). With regard to the possibility of a lesser sanction, the district court stated in issuing terminating sanctions that it "can conceive of no other sanction which would be appropriate under these circumstances." (AA Vol. 12 PG 1978). The district court disposed of the remaining underlying cases by way of identical orders issued on January 22, 2018. (AA Vols. 14 and 15 PGS 2426 – 2463).

F. The District Court's Attorneys' Fees and Costs Orders.

In the underlying case on appeal in Case No. 76395, Versa filed a post-judgment motion for attorneys' fees and costs, and a verified memorandum of costs, wherein it sought from MDB attorneys' fees in the amount of \$228,500.50 and costs in the amount of \$58,773.06 from MDB. (AA Vol. 13 PGS 2003-2019). MDB filed a motion to retax and settle costs and opposed Versa's motion for attorneys' fees and costs. (AA Vol. 14 PGS 2407 – 2425 and AA Vol. 15 PGS

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