IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

MDB TRUCKING, LLC,

Appellant/Cross-Respondent,

VS.

VERSA PRODUCTS COMPANY, INC.,

Respondent/Cross-Appellant.

No. 75022

Electronically Filed Mar 05 2019 10:28 a.m.

Elizabeth A. Brown
Consolidated with Class at Suppense Court

75321, 76395, 76396, 76397

RESPONDENT'S ANSWERING BRIEF ON APPEAL AND OPENING BRIEF ON CROSS-APPEAL

Josh Cole Aicklen

Nevada Bar No. 7254

Josh.Aicklen@lewisbrisbois.com

Jeffrey D. Olster

Nevada Bar No. 8864

Jeff.Olster@lewisbrisbois.com

David B. Avakian

Nevada Bar No. 9502

David.Avakian@lewisbrisbois.com

Paige S. Shreve

Nevada Bar No. 13773

Paige.Shreve@lewisbrisbois.com

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

³ MDB's Opening Brief does not allege the district court did not properly weigh the Young factors. However, Versa felt it was appropriate to address each factor in the Answering Brief to illustrate to the Court that the district court did not abuse its discretion in its Order.

accidents and injuries. (*Id.* at 1977). Yet, "[the district court] heard no testimony that MDB took *any* steps to preserve the truck or trailer in *any way*." (*Id.* [emphasis added].) Furthermore, "[t]here was no testimony indicating memorialization of the condition of the vehicle was ever contemplated by anyone at MDB. On the contrary, the truck and trailer continued to be in use after the events of July 7, 2014," and "[i]t was subject to 'routine' maintenance." (*Id.*)

The district court further explained that, had MDB just taken the simple step of at least taking photographs of the truck, trailer and electrical parts, then Versa may have an alternative way to defend against MDB's product liability claim. (*Id.*) However, because of MDB's failure to even consider retention of critical evidence, Versa's expert could not possibly confirm or refute MDB's position that the electrical system was working properly. (*Id.*) Though the district court did not find that MDB intended to harm Versa, MDB's neglect and indifference caused the loss of the only evidence that Versa could use to defend MDB's claims. (*Id.*) Under these circumstances, MDB's failure to preserve the evidence that was within its exclusive control was willful. (*Id.* at 1976-77 [citing *Childers v. State*, 100 Nev. 280, 283, 680 P.2d 598, 599 (1984) (willfulness "implies simply a purpose or willingness to commit the act or to make the omission in question. The word does not require in its meaning any intent to violate law, or to injure another, or to acquire any advantage.")]

Accordingly, this first *Young* factor militates in favor of dismissal of MDB's cross-claim.

2. Possibility of Lesser Sanction

The second *Young* factor is the extent to which the non-offending party would be prejudiced by a lesser sanction. *See Young, supra*, 106 Nev. at 93. The district court carefully considered, but rejected, the imposition of alternative lesser sanctions, including jury instructions (for either a rebuttable presumption or adverse inference) and the striking of MDB's expert. (Order, App. Vol. 12 at 1977-78). With respect to presumption or inference instructions pursuant to *Bass-Davis*, the district court reasoned that these remedies were insufficient because "[t]he actions of [MDB] had the effect of reserving to itself all expert testimony based upon examination of the [electronic components]. Any adverse presumption which the court might have ordered as a sanction for the spoliation of evidence would have paled next to the testimony of the expert witness." (*Id.* [quoting *Zenith, supra*, 103 Nev. at 652].) Striking MDB's expert (the remedy used in *Zenith, supra*, 103 Nev. 648) would leave MDB's cross-claim subject to summary judgment, and would result in "a patent waste of limited judicial resources and of the jury's time." (*Id.* at 1978).

In other words, after reviewing extensive briefing, hearing oral argument and conducting an evidentiary hearing with multiple live witnesses, the district court could "conceive of no other sanction [short of dismissal] which would be appropriate under these circumstances." (*Id.*) Accordingly, this second *Young* factor militates in favor of dismissal of MDB's cross-claim.

3. Severity of the Sanction of Dismissal relative to the Severity of the Discovery Abuse

The third Young factor is the severity of the sanction of dismissal relative to the severity of the discovery abuse. See Young, supra, 106 Nev. at 93. In assessing this factor, the district court expressly recognized this Court's pronouncement that dismissal "should only be used in extreme situations." (Order, App. Vol. 12 at 1979) [quoting GNLV Corp. v. Service Control Corp., 111 Nev. 866, 870, 900 P.2d 323 (1995)]). Nevertheless, in explaining why this case presents precisely this type of extreme situation, the district correctly noted that "[t]he only issue in this case is why the door to the trailer opened causing the gravel to dump into the roadway." (Id. at 1979 [emphasis in original].) As such, "MDB's disposal of the electronic components without memorializing them in any way effectively halted the adversarial process. It left all of the 'cards' in MDB's hands and left Versa with nothing other than a theory it could neither prove nor disprove." (Id. at 1979 [emphasis added].) The district further explained that "MDB could simply rely on its expert during trial and argue Versa had no proof of its theory and the theory itself was preposterous. This [was] the position taken by MDB at the evidentiary hearing." (Id. at 1979) In other words, "Versa is left with no way of verifying its theory of the case" because "the adversarial process was stymied by MDB regarding the most critical pieces of evidence. " (Id. at 1979-1980 [emphasis added]). This conclusion was notably buttressed by the evidence presented at the evidentiary hearing, which demonstrated that the belly dump failure could have occurred as Versa's expert opined (i.e., due an electrical failure). (*Id.* at 1979-1980).

Accordingly, this third *Young* factor militates in favor of dismissal of MDB's cross-claim.

4. Whether Evidence is Irreparably Lost

The fourth *Young* factor is whether the evidence at issue has been irreparably lost. *See Young, supra*, 106 Nev. at 93. Because MDB employees testified at the evidentiary hearing that the salient electronic components had been thrown away, the critical evidence is, undisputedly, irreparably lost. (Order, App. Vol. 12 at 1980). Accordingly, this fourth *Young* factor militates in favor of dismissal of MDB's crossclaim.

5. The Feasibility and Fairness of Alternative Sanctions

The fifth *Young* factor involves an assessment of the feasibility and fairness of alternative, less-severe sanctions. *See Young, supra*, 106 Nev. at 93. Again, the district court carefully considered and rejected the imposition of alternative lesser sanctions, including jury instructions and the striking of MDB's expert. (Order, App. Vol. 12 at 1977-78, 1980). The district court reasoned that alternative remedies were insufficient because, while MDB's experts purported to rule out any electrical cause of the belly dump failure, MDB's undisputed destruction/loss of the electronic system components totally deprived Versa of its ability to defend against MDB's cross-claim. (*Id.*) Accordingly, "[t]he circumstances presented in the Motion are unique and the most severe sanction is appropriate." (*Id.* at 1980).

Accordingly, this fifth *Young* factor militates in favor of dismissal of MDB's cross-claim.

6. The Policy Favoring Adjudication on the Merits

The sixth *Young* factor involves an assessment of the policy favoring adjudication on the merits. *See Young, supra*, 106 Nev. at 93. The district court expressly acknowledged and reaffirmed Nevada's strong public policy that cases should be adjudicated on their merits. (Order, App. Vol. 12 at 1981). The district concluded that dismissing the cross-claim would further this policy, as allowing the cross-claim to proceed "would be the antithesis of allowing it to proceed 'on the merits'" because "[t]he merits of Versa's case would not be able to be evaluated by the jury because Versa could not test its theory on the actual components." (*Id.*) Rather, "[t]he jury would be left to guess about what may have occurred rather than weigh the competing theories presented. *MDB would have an overwhelmingly unfair advantage given its action.*" (*Id.* [emphasis added].)

Accordingly, this sixth *Young* factor militates in favor of dismissal of MDB's cross-claim.

7. Whether the Sanctions Unfairly Penalize a Party for the Conduct of Counsel

The seventh *Young* factor involves an assessment of whether sanctions unfairly operate to penalize a party for the misconduct of its attorney. *See Young, supra*, 106 Nev. at 93. The district court correctly found that this factor is inapplicable, as there is no evidence to show that MDB's counsel was in any way responsible for the loss of the evidence. (Order, App. Vol. 12 at 1982). Accordingly, this seventh *Young* factor effectively militates in favor of dismissal of MDB's cross-claim.

8. The Need for Deterrence

The eighth *Young* factor involves an assessment of the need to deter both the parties and future litigants from similar abuses. *See Young, supra*, 106 Nev. at 93. The district, based on this Court's *Zenith* opinion and the evidence presented in connection the Motion and evidentiary hearing, concluded that allowing MDB's cross-claim to proceed when if failed to preserve the only evidence that could support Versa's defense "would set a dangerous precedent to similarly situated parties in the future. It would also be antithetical to a potential litigant's obligation to preserve the very evidence it may have to produce during discovery." (Order, App. Vol. 12 at 1981). Accordingly, this eighth *Young* factor also militates in favor of dismissal of MDB's cross-claim.

In other words, the district court, after carefully considering each of the *Young* factors, decided that all of these factors mandated dismissal of the cross-claim because MDB's evidence spoliation "crippled [Versa's] ability to present its case." (Order, App. Vol. 12 at 1982).

B. MDB does not identify any abuse of discretion in its Opening Brief.

The arguments asserted by MDB in its Opening Brief were properly rejected by the district court, and MDB identifies no law or evidence establishing the district court abused its discretion.

1. MDB merely re-argues facts by asserting that it was not required to preserve the electrical components for the truck.

MDB argues on appeal that it had no obligation to preserve the truck's electrical components. (Opening Brief at 19-20). Specifically, MDB argues that the modification of the dump gate system prior to the subject accident removed any chance that the wiring could affect the operation of the Versa valve, that routine maintenance would have no impact on the subject Versa valve and that Versa produced no evidence to support is claim to the contrary. (*Id.* at 20-21).

The district court did not abuse its discretion by rejecting these factual contentions in the proceedings below. Rather, the district court properly recognized that MDB's failure to preserve the electrical components from the subject truck completely precluded Versa from testing MDB's argument that the electrical system could not have caused the belly dump to open. (Order, App. Vol. 12 at 1976-1982). Similarly, Versa's failure to "produce evidence" regarding any possible electrical component failure was solely a function of the MDB's failure to preserve the evidence. (Id.) In other words, consistent with this Court's opinions in Zenith and Stubli, the district court merely recognized that 'trust us' arguments are not permissible when a party has disposed of the evidence needed to assess that trust. See Mishler v. State Bd. of Medical Examiners, 109 Nev. 287, 294, 849 P.2d 291 (1993) (recognizing "the obligation of a party who intends to rely on certain evidence to marshal and preserve it for the benefit of the opposing party," and that, "[w]here a

party fails to do so, that party must suffer the prejudice from the absence of the evidence.")

The district court's ruling was based not only on a detailed assessment of the *Young* factors (as detailed above), but also on substantial factual evidence presented in the Motion proceedings. In its cross-claim, MDB alleges that the Versa valve was defective because it would activate inadvertently. (App. Vol. 1 at 3). The Versa valve is activated when the valve receives electricity, but the valve can only receive electricity through the electrical wiring (within the four-way cords) from the truck and through the trailers. (App. Vol. 11 at 1714-15, 1726-27 and 1817). The electrical writing is connected through four-way sockets and plugs. (*Id.*) Additionally, the seven-way cords are tied together with the four-way cords. (App. Vol. 11 at 1802).

The evidence presented below showed that MDB's own mechanics were well aware that the four-way connectors and plugs supply the electricity to the Versa valve. For example, MDB mechanic Patrick Bigby testified that the four-way connectors that were removed and replaced are the connectors for the wiring that controls the subject Versa valve. (App. Vol. 11 at 1701:20-23). MDB employees also acknowledged that issues could have existed with the electrical cords that were thrown away, and MDB's expert acknowledged that electrical issues could have caused the Versa valve to open. (App. Vol. 11 at 1717; App. Vol. 12 at 1847). As such, the district court did not abuse its discretion when it found that the discarded components that were involved in the electrical activation of the Versa valve, i.e. the four-way plug and connector, are relevant and should have been preserved, or, at the very least, photographed. (Order, App. Vol. 12 at 1976-1982).

The district court also heard testimony that, due to the close nature of the sevenway and four-way cords, it is possible that the cords could have been stripped and the bare cords could have touched. (App. Vol. 11 at 1717;1810-1811; App. Vol. 12 at 1847). Such touching would send electricity to the Versa valve. (*Id.*) Therefore, the district court did not abuse its discretion when it determined that the seven-way plug and cords were relevant and should have been preserved, or at the very least photographed. (Order, App. Vol. 12 at 1976-1982). There is no dispute that MDB took none of these steps to preserve evidence that it knew, or should have known, would be relevant to its cross-claim against Versa.

There is also no dispute that MDB threw the electrical components away after they were on notice of a potential legal claim. This is evident by the fact that MDB had an attorney and hired an expert for the subject incident on November 11, 2014, which was prior to a majority of the "routine maintenance" that was performed on the subject truck and trailers. (App. Vol. 8 at 1229). Moreover, as the district court properly recognized, MDB knew, on the date of the accident (July 7, 2014), that MDB had to know that there would be litigation arising out of the subject accident based on the numerous accidents and collisions. (App. Vol. 12 at 1977). The district court accordingly did not abuse its discretion when it concluded that MDB was on notice of the potential litigation and had a duty to preserve the evidence, including the electrical components which in any way could have potentially caused the Versa valve to activate.

Finally, MDB suggests that it obligation to preserve critical evidence was somehow affected by Versa's conduct. Specifically, MDB asserts that "Versa

displayed no sense of urgency to inspect the subject semi-truck and trailers." (Opening Brief at 20). In addition to being legally irrelevant, this assertion is simply false. MDB filed its cross-claim against Versa on June 15, 2016. (App. Vol. 1 at 1). The first inspection that involved Versa took place just a few months later, on October 13, 2016. (App. Vol. 8 at 1269).

In sum, MDB's re-argument of select facts, and mischaracterizations of other facts, do not demonstrate any abuse of discretion by the district court. The district court's factual findings, which are subject to a substantial evidence review, were rationally based on the evidence presented.

2. This Court's Bass-Davis opinion does not require a lesser sanction.

MDB next argues that this Court's *Bass-Davis* opinion permits only an adverse inference jury instruction, not dismissal of the cross-claim. (Opening Brief at 22-24). As support for this argument, MDB points to the district court's conclusion that the MDB employees who failed to preserve the critical evidence did not act with intent to harm Versa's case.

MDB's argument, essentially, is that *Bass-Davis* implicitly overruled this Court's longstanding and well-established jurisprudence regarding case-terminating evidentiary sanctions, including *Young*, *Stubli* and *Zenith*. Again, in *Stubli*, this Court affirmed the dismissal of plaintiff's complaint because plaintiff's counsel and expert witness failed to preserve critical evidence relating to a truck accident. *See Stubli*, *supra*, 107 Nev. at 313-14. Similarly, in *Zenith*, this Court affirmed the exclusion of plaintiff's expert witness (which effectively amounted to a dismissal) due to plaintiff's

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